

Florida Estate Planning Basics

By: Carol A. Lawson, Esq.



About the Author: Carol A. Lawson, Esq., was born in Detroit, Michigan and attended James Madison College, at Michigan State University where she had a dual major in International Relations and Urban Affairs. She attended Law School at Thomas M. Cooley Law School, in Lansing, Mi.. Carol has been a resident of Pinellas, County, Florida since 1993.

> Carol A. Lawson, Esq. 2451 McMullen Booth Rd 254 Clearwater, FL 33763 (727) 410-2705 www.carollawsonpa.com

Contents

| [Chapter 1] — Understanding Estate Planning: The Basics1 |
|---|
| [Chapter 2] — Wills In Florida: Ensuring Your Wishes Are Respected |
| [Chapter 3] — Trusts 101: Various Types And Their Unique Benefits |
| [Chapter 4] — The Florida Probate Process: What to Expect and How to Navigate It9 |
| [Chapter 5] — Powers of Attorney and Healthcare Directives |
| [Chapter 6] — Tax Considerations: Federal Understanding and Florida Estate Tax Laws15 |
| [Chapter 7] — Guardianships in Florida: Protecting Minors and Incapacitated Adults17 |
| [Chapter 8] — Regular Updates: Keeping Your Estate Plan Current19 |
| [Chapter 9] — Role of a Florida Estate Planning Attorney: More Than Just Paperwork21 |
| Why Work with an Estate Planning Attorney? |
| [Chapter 10] — Resources and Next Steps: Building Your Knowledge23 |

[CHAPTER 1] — : UNDERSTANDING ESTATE PLANNING: THE BASICS

Introduction: Defining Estate Planning

Estate planning is a proactive process that helps individuals manage their assets and make critical decisions about their healthcare, wealth, and loved ones' welfare. This process doesn't merely center around distributing assets after one's death—it's about providing clarity, minimizing potential disputes, reducing tax liabilities, and ensuring that personal wishes are respected during incapacitation or after death.

Key Components of an Estate Plan

At its core, an estate plan includes legal documents like a Last Will and Testament or Living Trust, assigning assets to beneficiaries. It often encompasses a Power of Attorney, appointing someone to make financial decisions if you're unable, and a Living Will or Healthcare Surrogate to guide medical decisions when you can't. More complex estate plans may involve tax planning, guardianship arrangements for minors or dependent adults, charitable bequests, and business succession plans.

Importance and Benefits of Estate Planning

Estate planning offers numerous benefits, providing a sense of security and a well-defined plan for the future. It ensures the individuals you care about are cared for, reducing familial disputes over asset division. It helps manage tax liabilities, preventing your heirs from inheriting a tax burden. Estate planning also allows you to support beloved charities, continue family businesses, and ensure special needs dependents have the resources they need.

Common Misconceptions about Estate Planning

Estate planning is often surrounded by misconceptions. Many believe it's only for the wealthy, but anyone—regardless of wealth level—can benefit from an estate plan. Another misconception is that estate planning is only about asset distribution after death. In reality, a good estate plan covers potential incapacitation, assigning medical and financial decision-making powers. Lastly, some assume that a simple will is sufficient for their estate plan. However, comprehensive estate planning involves more facets, including trust planning, tax considerations, and healthcare directives.

Florida Specifics: The Unique Aspects of Estate Planning in Florida

Estate planning in Florida shares common elements with other states, but it also has unique aspects. Florida doesn't impose an estate or inheritance tax, potentially lowering your tax burden. Homestead laws in Florida provide certain protections and impose restrictions on how your primary residence is treated in your estate. Florida also has specific requirements for executing valid wills and trusts. For retirees, Florida's laws have special implications that tie into estate planning, given its popularity as a retirement destination.

In the upcoming chapters, we will delve deeper into the nuances of estate planning in Florida. This journey will equip you with a robust understanding of wills, trusts, the probate process, healthcare directives, tax implications, guardianships, the role of an attorney, and the common pitfalls to avoid in estate planning. By the end of this guide, you will possess the knowledge needed to build a sound estate plan and secure your legacy in the Sunshine State.

[CHAPTER 2] —WILLS IN FLORIDA: ENSURING YOUR WISHES ARE RESPECTED

The Fundamental Role of a Will in an Estate Plan

A will is a legal document that outlines your wishes regarding the distribution of your assets and the care of any minor children after your death. It's one of the fundamental components of an estate plan. In addition to distributing assets, a will appoints a personal representative (also known as an executor) to manage your estate through the probate process.

Legal Requirements for Drafting a Valid Will in Florida

In Florida, there are certain requirements for a will to be considered valid:

The person making the will (the testator) must be at least 18 years old or an emancipated minor.

The testator must be of sound mind, meaning they understand the nature of what they're doing.

The will must be in writing (either typed or handwritten).

The will must be signed by the testator or by another person at the testator's direction and in their presence.

The will must be signed in the presence of two witnesses, who must also sign the will in the presence of the testator and each other.

The Process of Changing or Revoking a Will

Life changes like marriage, divorce, the birth of a child, or changes in financial circumstances may necessitate changes to your will. In Florida, a will can be changed or revoked in several ways:

By creating a new will that expressly revokes the old will.

By creating a "codicil", which is an amendment to the existing will.

By intentionally destroying the will (burning, tearing, canceling, obliterating, or otherwise destroying it with the intention of revocation).

It's important to seek legal advice when altering a will to ensure it's done correctly and the changes are legally binding.

Potential Complications and Disputes: Intestacy and Probate

Dying without a will, known as dying intestate, can lead to complications. In Florida, if you die intestate, your assets will be distributed according to Florida's intestacy laws, which might not align with your wishes. Furthermore, your estate will still have to go through the probate process, which can be lengthy and expensive.

Even with a will, your estate must pass through probate, during which the court supervises the collection and distribution of assets. However, having a well-crafted will can streamline this process and reduce disputes among heirs.

Case Study: The Consequences of Dying Without a Will

To illustrate the importance of having a will, let's consider the case of John, a hypothetical Florida resident. John, a widower with three children, died without a will. His estate, which included his homestead property, several bank accounts, and a valuable antique collection, was distributed according to Florida's intestacy laws. Despite his wish to divide the estate equally among his children, the law dictated that his youngest daughter, a minor, received a larger portion. This led to family disputes and legal battles, highlighting the potential challenges and familial strife that can arise without a will. By understanding the role and requirements of wills in Florida, you can ensure your assets are distributed according to your wishes and avoid unnecessary complications for your loved ones. The next chapter will introduce another valuable tool in estate planning: trusts.

[CHAPTER 3] — TRUSTS 101: VARIOUS TYPES AND THEIR UNIQUE BENEFITS

Trust Basics: Definition, Parties Involved, and Types

A trust is a fiduciary arrangement that allows a third party, or trustee, to hold assets on behalf of a beneficiary. Trusts can be arranged in many ways and can specify exactly how and when the assets pass to the beneficiaries. There are three main parties in a trust: the grantor (who creates the trust), the trustee (who manages the trust), and the beneficiary (who benefits from the trust).

Living Trusts Vs. Testamentary Trusts: Benefits and Drawbacks

Trusts can be categorized broadly into two types: Living Trusts and Testamentary Trusts. A Living Trust, also known as an inter vivos trust, is created during the lifetime of the grantor. It can be either revocable (can be changed or cancelled by the grantor at any time) or irrevocable (cannot be changed once created). A Testamentary Trust, on the other hand, is created through a will after the death of the grantor. Living Trusts can help avoid probate, provide for management during incapacity, and maintain privacy. Testamentary Trusts can be useful in providing structured distributions to beneficiaries or protecting assets from creditors.

How to Establish a Trust in Florida: Step-by-Step

To create a trust in Florida, there are certain steps and legal requirements: Determine the type of trust: This decision depends on your estate planning goals. Decide on the terms of the trust: This includes the distribution of assets and the responsibilities of the trustee.

Choose a trustee: This can be an individual or an institution.

Create and sign the trust document: This should be done with an attorney to ensure legality. Transfer property into the trust: Assets must be retitled in the name of the trust to be considered part of it.

Specialized Trusts: Revocable, Irrevocable, Special Needs, and QTIP

There are also specialized trusts to consider based on your specific needs: Revocable Trusts allow the grantor to maintain control and make changes during their lifetime. Irrevocable Trusts can provide tax benefits and asset protection from creditors or lawsuits. Special Needs Trusts are designed for a beneficiary who is physically or mentally disabled, allowing them to enjoy the use of property that is held in the trust for their benefit. QTIP Trusts (Qualified Terminable Interest Property) allow the grantor to provide for a surviving spouse and also maintain control of how the trust's assets are distributed once the surviving spouse has died.

Trust Administration and Trustee Responsibilities

Trust administration involves managing the trust's assets according to the trust document's instructions and for the benefit of the beneficiaries after the grantor's death. This includes managing and investing assets, keeping records, filing taxes, and distributing assets to beneficiaries. The trustee has a fiduciary duty, meaning they must act in the best interest of the trust's beneficiaries. If they fail to do this, they could be held legally responsible for any loss to the trust's value.

In the next chapter, we'll take a closer look at the probate process in Florida, a critical aspect of estate planning that could impact your assets and beneficiaries. The use of trusts is one strategy to streamline or bypass this process, as we'll discuss further.

[CHAPTER 4]— THE FLORIDA PROBATE PROCESS: WHAT TO EXCEPT AND HOW TO NAVIGATE IT

Introduction to Probate: What is It and When is It Necessary?

Probate is the legal process that takes place after someone dies, which involves proving the deceased's will is valid, identifying and inventorying the deceased person's property, paying debts and taxes, and distributing the remaining property as the will directs. In Florida, probate proceedings are necessary when a deceased person leaves assets titled in their name alone.

The Role of the Personal Representative

The personal representative (known as the executor in some states) plays a significant role in the probate process. This person, named in the will or appointed by the court if there isn't a will, is responsible for administering the decedent's estate. Their responsibilities include collecting and protecting the estate's assets, paying valid claims (including taxes), and distributing the remaining assets to the appropriate beneficiaries.

Formal Administration vs. Summary Administration

In Florida, there are two primary types of probate administration: Formal Administration and Summary Administration.

Formal Administration is the typical process used when the deceased has been dead for less than two years, and their probate assets exceed \$75,000. This process involves appointing a personal representative who will be responsible for settling the estate, which includes paying any valid claims and distributing the remaining assets.

Summary Administration can be used if the deceased has been dead for more than two years or their probate assets are valued at \$75,000 or less. This is a shorter process that doesn't require the appointment of a personal representative. Instead, the court directly orders the distribution of the deceased person's assets.

Steps Involved in the Florida Probate Process

Filing of the will: The person in possession of the deceased person's will must file it with the local circuit court as soon as possible.

Appointment of Personal Representative: The court appoints a personal representative named in the will, assuming they are legally qualified.

Notification to Creditors: The personal representative must notify creditors, who then have 30 days to file any claims against the estate.

Payment of Claims: Valid claims are paid from the estate. If there are disputes about the validity of a claim, the court will decide.

Distribution of Assets: After the payment of valid claims and expenses of the estate, the personal representative distributes the remaining assets according to the will or state law if there is no will.

Closing the Estate: The personal representative files a final accounting and paperwork to close the estate.

Probate Avoidance Strategies

Probate can be costly and time-consuming, and many people seek ways to avoid it. Common strategies include creating a living trust, designating beneficiaries on accounts, owning property jointly, and giving away property before death.

In the next chapter, we will explore further estate planning tools and strategies, such as powers of attorney and health care directives. These can ensure your wishes are followed in the event you become incapable of making decisions for yourself.

[CHAPTER 5] —POWERS OF ATTORNEY AND HEALTHCARE DIRECTIVES: Guiding Decisions When You Can't

Defining Powers of Attorney: Purpose and Scope

A Power of Attorney (POA) is a legal document that allows an individual (the principal) to appoint another person or entity (the agent) to manage their affairs if they're unable to do so. The powers can be broad or narrow, and they can give the agent authority to manage finances, sign legal documents, make health care decisions, or even make gifts of money.

Different Types of Powers of Attorney in Florida

In Florida, there are different types of POAs, each serving a unique purpose:

General Power of Attorney: This grants broad powers to the agent to act in any legal capacity the principal might have.

Limited Power of Attorney: Also known as a "special" POA, this document gives the agent specific powers for a limited period or under specific circumstances.

Durable Power of Attorney: This type of POA remains in effect even if the principal becomes mentally incapacitated. Unless it's specifically designated as durable, a POA terminates if the principal becomes incapacitated.

Crafting a Healthcare Directive in Florida

A healthcare directive, also known as an advance directive, outlines your wishes for medical treatment if you're unable to communicate them yourself. In Florida, an advance directive might include:

Living Will: This document outlines what medical treatments you would or would not want to be used to keep you alive.

Health Care Surrogate Designation: This allows you to designate another person to make healthcare decisions for you if you're unable to do so.

Anatomical Donation: This document allows you to decide about organ donation after death.

Understanding the Importance of These Documents in Estate Planning

Powers of Attorney and Healthcare Directives play a crucial role in estate planning. They ensure that your affairs are handled and your medical treatment preferences are honored if you become unable to manage them yourself. Without these documents, these decisions may be left to the court or family members, potentially leading to disagreements or decisions that may not align with your wishes.

Common Pitfalls to Avoid

There are certain pitfalls to avoid when drafting POAs and Healthcare Directives: Not being specific enough about your wishes and instructions. Not updating these documents when your circumstances change. Choosing an agent or healthcare surrogate who is not trustworthy or reliable. Not discussing your wishes with your chosen agent or surrogate.

The subsequent chapters will expand on other important aspects of estate planning in Florida, including tax implications and guardianship provisions. As we delve into these aspects, remember that a well-crafted estate plan is more than just distributing assets—it's about

providing guidance, reducing uncertainty, and ensuring your wishes are followed, even when you can't voice them yourself.

[CHAPTER 6] — TAX CONSIDERATIONS: UNDERSTANDING FEDERAL AND FLORIDA ESTATE TAX LAWS

The Federal Estate Tax: Understanding the Basics

The federal estate tax, often referred to as the "death tax," is a tax on the transfer of a person's estate upon their death. As of my last update in 2021, estates with a total value less than \$11.7 million were exempt from federal estate tax due to the unified federal gift and estate tax exemption. Estates that exceed this amount were subject to federal estate tax at a rate of up to 40%. However, tax laws change frequently, so it's crucial to consult with a tax professional or attorney for the most current laws.

Portability of the Federal Estate Tax Exemption

Since 2011, the unused portion of the federal estate tax exemption for a deceased spouse is "portable" and can be used by the surviving spouse, effectively doubling the exemption amount for married couples. The surviving spouse must file an estate tax return when the first spouse dies, even if no tax is due, to claim the unused exemption.

Florida's Estate Tax Situation

Florida does not impose a state-level estate or inheritance tax. Regardless of the size of the estate, Florida residents won't have to worry about a state-level estate tax bite. This lack of a state-level estate tax makes Florida an attractive location for retirees and others interested in estate planning.

Capital Gains Tax and the Step-up in Basis

Capital gains tax is the tax you owe on the increase in value of an asset when you sell it. However, inherited property is subject to a "step-up" in basis, which means the asset's basis is increased to its fair market value at the time of the owner's death. Therefore, if the asset is sold, the beneficiary only pays capital gains tax on the increase in value from the time they inherited the asset, not from when the decedent originally purchased it.

Gift Tax: The Implications of Gifting During Life

The federal gift tax applies to the transfer of property while you're living. As of 2021, you can gift up to \$15,000 per person per year without incurring a gift tax. If you exceed this annual exclusion, the excess amount chips away at your lifetime gift and estate tax exemption. Just like with the estate tax, it's essential to consult with a tax professional to understand the current laws.

In the next chapter, we'll turn our focus to guardianships in Florida, especially for minor children and incapacitated adults. While tax planning is a crucial part of any comprehensive estate plan, so too is planning for the care of your loved ones should they be unable to care for themselves.

[CHAPTER 7] — GUARDIANSHIPS IN FLORIDA: PROTECTING MINORS AND INCAPACITATED ADULTS

Understanding Guardianships: An Overview

A guardianship is a legal mechanism that allows a person (the guardian) to make decisions for another (the ward) who is unable to make decisions for themselves. This can be due to the ward being a minor child, or an adult who is incapacitated due to age, illness, or disability.

Types of Guardianships in Florida

In Florida, there are various types of guardianships based on the needs of the ward:

Guardian of the Person: This guardian makes personal decisions for the ward, such as healthcare and housing.

Guardian of the Property: This guardian manages the ward's financial affairs.

Guardian Advocate: This is a less restrictive form of guardianship for adults with developmental disabilities.

Voluntary Guardianship: An adult who, though mentally competent, is incapable of managing their estate may petition for this.

Establishing Guardianships for Minor Children

Guardianships are often established for minor children in the event their parents are no longer able to care for them. This could be due to the parents' death, incapacity, or abandonment. Florida law prefers that close relatives be appointed as guardians, but anyone who is qualified can serve. When planning your estate, you can nominate a guardian for your minor children in your will. Though the court has final say, your wishes will be given strong consideration.

Establishing Guardianships for Incapacitated Adults

A guardian may also be appointed for an adult who is no longer able to make or communicate their own decisions due to mental or physical incapacity. The process includes a medical examination by a committee of three professionals who submit their findings to the court. If the court determines that the individual lacks the capacity to perform essential tasks, it will appoint a guardian.

Rights and Responsibilities of a Guardian

A guardian is expected to act in the best interests of the ward and has many responsibilities, including managing finances, making medical decisions, and reporting to the court. However, a ward also retains certain rights, such as the right to respectful treatment, the right to privacy, and the right to legal representation.

The subsequent chapters will focus on the importance of updating your estate plan and understanding the role of a Florida estate planning attorney. While establishing guardianships is a crucial step, remember that a comprehensive estate plan covers all aspects of your life and requires regular updates to remain relevant and effective.

[Chapter 8] — REGULAR UPDATES: KEEPING YOUR ESTATE PLAN CURRENT

The Importance of Updating Your Estate Plan

An estate plan isn't a static document, but a dynamic set of instructions that should evolve as your life changes. Regular updates ensure your plan continues to reflect your wishes and circumstances accurately, protecting you and your loved ones. Failing to update your estate plan may result in a distribution of your assets that doesn't align with your current wishes or even disputes among your loved ones.

Life Events that Warrant an Update

Several life events should trigger a review and potential update of your estate plan:

Changes in Family Relationships: Marriage, divorce, birth or adoption of a child, or death of a family member could significantly impact your estate plan.

Changes in Assets or Liabilities: Significant increases or decreases in the value of your estate, acquiring or selling a business, or taking on significant debt can require adjustments to your plan. **Change in Residency:** If you move to another state or country, different laws might affect your estate plan.

Changes in Tax Laws: Changes in federal or state tax laws might necessitate a review and adjustment of your estate plan to optimize tax benefits.

Routine Review of Your Estate Plan

In addition to these life events, it's generally recommended to review your estate plan every three to five years. During these routine reviews, ensure your chosen executors, trustees, and guardians are still willing and able to serve in their respective roles. Also, reassess your asset distribution to ensure it still aligns with your wishes.

Working with an Attorney During Updates

Working with an experienced estate planning attorney during these updates can be crucial. They can help you understand the implications of life changes on your estate plan and guide you through necessary adjustments.

In the following chapters, we will discuss the role of a Florida estate planning attorney and dive deeper into the resources available to assist you in estate planning. While the process may seem complex, remember that an up-to-date estate plan is a priceless gift you leave your loved ones.

[Chapter 9] — ROLE OF A FLORIDA ESTATE PLANNING ATTORNEY: MORE THAN JUST PAPERWORK

Why Work with an Estate Planning Attorney?

While it may be tempting to try and create an estate plan on your own, working with an experienced Florida estate planning attorney can ensure that your plan is legally sound, comprehensive, and customized to meet your specific needs and wishes. They can help navigate the complex landscape of laws and regulations that govern estate planning in Florida, avoiding common pitfalls and mistakes.

Tasks an Estate Planning Attorney Can Help With

A Florida estate planning attorney can assist with a range of tasks, including:

Drafting Wills and Trusts: Your attorney can help you create legal documents that clearly express your wishes and meet all legal requirements.

Designing an Estate Plan: They can assist you in creating a comprehensive estate plan that addresses all aspects of your life and after-death wishes.

Updating Your Estate Plan: As discussed in the previous chapter, an estate planning attorney can help you keep your estate plan current with changes in your personal life, financial situation, and tax laws.

Guiding Through Probate: If you're serving as an executor for someone else's estate, an attorney can guide you through the probate process.

Estate and Trust Litigation: If disputes arise over an estate or trust, your attorney can represent your interests in court.

Choosing the Right Estate Planning Attorney

When choosing an estate planning attorney, consider their:

Experience: Look for attorneys who specialize in estate planning and have experience with situations similar to yours.

Reputation: Seek recommendations, read reviews, and research any potential disciplinary actions against them.

Communication: Good communication is crucial. Your attorney should explain complex legal concepts in terms you understand and respond to your questions and concerns promptly.Fees: Understand how the attorney charges for their services and what services are included in their fee.

In the final chapter, we'll review some resources to help you further understand estate planning in Florida. As we've explored throughout this book, estate planning is a multifaceted process that touches every aspect of your life, making the role of an experienced attorney invaluable.

[Chapter 10] — Resources and Next Steps: Building Your Knowledge

Educating Yourself: The Importance of Learning

Knowledge is power, especially when it comes to estate planning. Understanding the key concepts and terms can help you make informed decisions about your estate. This book is a starting point, but it's essential to continue learning and stay informed about changes in laws and best practices.

Useful Books and Websites

Consider the following resources to deepen your understanding of estate planning: Books like "American Bar Association Guide to Wills and Estates" and "Plan Your Estate" by Denis Clifford provide comprehensive overviews of estate planning concepts. Websites such as the American Bar Association's 'Consumer's Guide to Estate Planning' and LegalZoom's 'Estate Planning Learning Center' offer helpful articles and resources. Florida Bar's Consumer Information provides useful pamphlets on wills, trusts, probate, and more, relevant to Florida law.

Our site: www.carollawsonpa.com

Government Resources

Government websites can provide up-to-date information about laws and regulations related to estate planning:

IRS's Estate and Gift Taxes page provides information about federal taxes relevant to estate planning.

Florida's State Courts' Self-Help page provides resources for understanding probate in Florida.

Estate Planning Checklist: Where to Start

Now that you've got the basics down, it's time to start the process. Here's a simple checklist:

Take inventory of your assets and liabilities.

Decide who you want to inherit your assets.

Consider who you trust to manage your affairs if you can't.

Meet with an experienced Florida estate planning attorney.

Regularly review and update your plan.

Estate planning might seem like a daunting task, but with the right resources and professional guidance, it's a manageable process. By creating a comprehensive estate plan, you're not only securing your assets but also providing peace of mind for yourself and your loved ones. Whether your estate is large or small, everyone can benefit from an estate plan. Your future is worth the effort, so start your estate planning journey today.